IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

RONNIE FERRELL, :

Appellant, :

vs. : CASE NO.: 83076

THE STATE OF FLORIDA, :

Appellee. :

On appeal from the Circuit Court of the Fourth Judicial Circuit, in and for Duval County, Florida

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

TERESA J. SOPP ATTORNEY AT LAW Liberty Center 7077 Bonneval Road, Suite 200 Jacksonville, Florida 32216-6062 Florida Bar No. 265934

(904) 296-2640

Attorney for Appellant

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

References to the record herein will be "R" followed by the appropriate page numbers as assigned by the court reporter. References to the transcripts of trial, penalty phase and sentencing will be "T" followed by the appropriate page numbers as assigned by the court reporter.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

ISSUE I:

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN INSTRUCTING THE JURY AS TO BIBLICAL ORIGINS OF THE COMMANDMENT "THOU SHALT NOT KILL"

ISSUE II:

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ADMITTING EVIDENCE OF A COLLATERAL CRIME

ISSUE III:

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ADMITTING A PURPORTED STATEMENT OF GINO MAYHEW TO LYNWOOD SMITH AS AN EXCITED UTTERANCE

ISSUE IV:

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR JUDGMENT OF ACQUITTAL BECAUSE THERE WAS INSUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO PROVE FIRST-DEGREE MURDER

ISSUE V:

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR JUDGMENT OF ACQUITTAL BECAUSE THERE WAS INSUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO SUSTAIN A CONVICTION OF ARMED ROBBERY

ISSUE VI:

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN SENTENCING APPELLANT AS A HABITUAL FELONY OFFENDER

ISSUE VII:

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT THE STATE HAD PROVED BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT THE STATUTORY AGGRAVATING FACTOR OF "COLD, CALCULATED AND PREMEDITATED MANNER"

ISSUE VIII:

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT THE STATE HAD PROVED BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT THE STATUTORY AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCE OF "CRIME COMMITTED FOR FINANCIAL GAIN"

ISSUE IX:

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT THE STATE HAD PROVED BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT THE STATUTORY AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCE OF "HEINOUS, ATROCIOUS OR CRUEL"

ISSUE X:

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ITS INSTRUCTIONS TO THE JURY AS TO THE AGGRAVATING FACTOR OF "COLD, CALCULATED AND PREMEDITATED"

ISSUE XI:

THE TRIAL COURT IMPERMISSIBLY DOUBLED THE STATUTORY AGGRAVATORS OF "KIDNAPPING" AND "PECUNIARY GAIN"

ISSUE XII:

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING DEFENDANT'S REQUEST FOR SPECIAL VERDICTS

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from the Fourth Judicial Circuit, in and for Duval County, Florida, in a criminal case in which the death penalty was imposed. Appellant was convicted of one count of first-degree murder, one count of a lesser included offense of unarmed robbery, and one count of a lesser included offense of unarmed kidnapping. (R-223).

Appellant had originally been charged by information with one count of second-degree murder, one count of armed kidnapping, and one count of armed robbery. (R-8). On July 25, 1991, the Duval County Grand Jury returned an indictment for first-degree murder, armed robbery, and armed kidnapping. (R-20).

The Office of the Public Defender had initially been appointed to represent appellant. On June 7, 1991, that office certified a conflict and filed a motion to withdraw from representation. (R-14). Private attorney Richard D. Nichols was appointed to represent appellant. (R-15).

On behalf of appellant, trial counsel filed the following pretrial motions as to the death penalty:

- (a) Motion to preclude death qualifications of jurors in the innocence or guilt phase and to utilize a bifurcated jury (R-52);
- (b) Motion to dismiss and to declare sections 782.04 and 921.141, <u>Florida Statutes</u> unconstitutional for a variety of reasons (R-68);
- (c) Motion to declare sections 921.141 and 922.10, Florida Statutes unconstitutional because electrocution is cruel and unusual punishment (R-81);

- (d) Motion to declare section 921.141(5)(h), Florida Statutes unconstitutional (R-92); and
- (e) Motion to declare section 921.141, <u>Florida</u> <u>Statutes</u> unconstitutional as applied because of arbitrariness in jury overrides in sentencing (R-100).

Trial counsel also filed a pre-trial motion for statement of aggravating circumstances (R-125), and a motion for special verdict (R-98). All of the motions described above were denied by the trial court.

The state filed a pre-trial motion in limine to preclude the defense from arguing regarding the state's failure to call any witness. (R-129). The trial court granted this motion. (R-129). Trial counsel objected to the admission of similar fact evidence that appellant was involved in a robbery of the decedent. (T-426).

A jury was selected on March 9, 1992; because appellant's trial counsel agreed to strike all of the jurors who voiced concerns over the death penalty, there was no litigation over challenges for cause. (T-178-404). Nor were there any challenges for improper racial bias manifested in peremptory strikes.

The case was tried on March 10 and 11, 1992, and appellant was convicted as described above. A penalty phase proceeding was held on March 20, 1992; one witness was called on behalf of the state and none was called for the defense. After deliberating for twenty-five minutes, the jury returned its verdict of an advisory recommendation of death, by a vote of seven to five. (R-218; T-1033; T-1036).

After the advisory recommendation of the jury, sentencing was

held. No testimony was presented at the sentencing hearing. The court made findings of fact and determined that the following statutory aggravating circumstances existed:

- (1) the defendant has been previously convicted of a felony involving the use of and/or the threat of violence to some person;
- (2) the crime for which the defendant is to be sentenced was committed while he was engaged in the commission of the crime of kidnapping;
- (3) the crime for which defendant is to be sentenced was committed for financial gain:
- (4) the crime for which defendant is to be sentenced is especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel;
- (5) the crime for which the defendant is to be sentenced was committed in a cold, calculated, and premeditated manner without any pretense of moral or legal justification.

(R-227-39).

The trial court determined that the fact that the co-defendant was the "trigger" man and that appellant Ferrell's part was minor "may" be a mitigating circumstance, but assigned it "slight weight." (R-240). The trial court determined that because Ferrell had used "treachery" to betray his friend that Ferrell was therefore as culpable as the co-defendant trigger man Hartley. (R-241).

The trial court imposed the death sentence as to the charge of first-degree murder; a sentence of thirty years as a habitual felony offender as to the charge of unarmed robbery, to run consecutively to Count I; and a sentence of life imprisonment as a habitual felony offender on the count of unarmed kidnapping, to run consecutively to the imposed on the unarmed robbery charge. (R-242).

Appellant timely filed his notice of appeal. (R-248).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Gino Mayhew was a seventeen-year-old crack dealer at the Washington Heights Apartments complex in Jacksonville. (T-575-76). On April 22, 1991, Mayhew was selling crack out of his Chevy Blazer at Washington Heights Apartments. (T-576). Mayhew "employed" a "lieutenant" named Sidney Jones who operated with Mayhew to stop "other people from going to other buyers and buying crack cocaine," Jones, who admitted to and to bring them to Mayhew. (T-577). having five prior felony convictions and two prior convictions for shoplifting, testified that crack sales happened all the time at the Washington Heights Apartments. (T-573; T-577-78). Jones had been at the Washington Heights Apartments all day on April 22, 1991, selling drugs with Mayhew. (T-616). In return for Jones bringing Mayhew customers, Mayhew would sell Jones crack a little cheaper or he would sometimes pay Jones. (T-617).

On April 23, 1991, at about 7:00 o'clock in the morning, Officer Michael Duckworth of the Jacksonville Sheriff's Office found a 1988 Chevy Blazer parked in a field beside an elementary school. (T-475). Officer Duckworth discovered the body of Gino Mayhew slumped over the driver's side seat in the Blazer. (T-476; T-486). Mayhew had been killed by bullet wounds to the head, but the medical examiner was unable to say in what order the shots had been fired. (T-512-13).

Mayhew's henchman Jones testified that he knew appellant, Ronnie Ferrell, and codefendants Kenneth Hartley and Sylvester Johnson. (T-573-74). Jones testified that he saw Kenneth Hartley,

Sylvester Johnson, and Ronnie Ferrell huddled together near Gino Mayhew's Blazer on the evening Mayhew was killed. (T-581). Johnson further testified that just after he saw the three near Mayhew's Blazer that he [Jones] bought a "dime" of crack cocaine from Mayhew. (T-582).

Jones testified that he then walked about three or four car lengths away from the Blazer and inspected the rock of crack cocaine he had just purchased from Mayhew. (T-582). Jones realized that the rock was too small, and he turned around to go back to the Blazer to complain. (T-582). Jones testified that he then saw Kenneth Hartley standing at the door of Mayhew's Blazer with his left hand up on the door and "this hand right here" with a pistol stuck to Mayhew's head. (T-582). Jones testified that he went up to the Blazer, but because of threats from Hartley, walked away. (T-584). Jones claimed that at that time he was able to see appellant Ferrell at the front left side of the Blazer looking back and forth. (T-585). Jones testified that he saw Kenneth Hartley "force Mayhew up in the seat," and he [Hartley] climbed into the Blazer in the back seat directly behind Mayhew. (T-586).

Jones testified that he then saw Ferrell run in front of the Blazer and get into the passenger side of the Blazer and sit in the front seat. (T-586). Jones testified that the Blazer backed up, and he then saw Sylvester Johnson run up and start talking to Kenneth Hartley, who was still seated in the back seat directly behind Mayhew. (T-587). Jones testified that he then left the apartment complex itself, and walked to the area in front of the

complex where there were stores and a gameroom. (T-589). Jones testified that he was scared to tell anyone about what he had seen happen to Gino Mayhew. (T-589).

Jones claimed that he saw the Blazer coming out of the apartment complex at a high speed going "real, real fast." (T-589). Jones testified that as the truck left the apartment complex appellant Ferrell hollered out of the Blazer, "Gino will be back." (T-590).

Jones testified that after Mayhew's truck left the apartment complex he saw Steve Mitchell's purple truck drive out of the complex. (T-593). Jones testified that Sylvester Johnson was driving the purple truck. (T-593).

Robert Williams testified that he was a cell-mate of Ronnie Ferrell's at the Duval County Jail in 1991. (T-662). Williams testified that during the time he and Ferrell were cellblock-mates, they developed a "jail-house friendship." (T-663).Williams testified that he and Williams talked about their charges, and that Ferrell told him that Sylvester Johnson and Kenneth Hartley had previously robbed Gino Mayhew. (T-665). According to Williams, Ferrell also implicated himself in this previous robbery. (T-668). Williams claimed that Ferrell indicated the three of them had taken \$1,700.00 from Mayhew on the Saturday before his death. (T-669). Williams testified that Ferrell told him that Sylvester Johnson and Kenneth Hartley had been recognized by Gino Mayhew. According to Williams, Ferrell also told him that he himself had not been recognized by Gino Mayhew during the Saturday robbery.

(T-669).

Williams testified that Ferrell told him the three codefendants had planned to murder Mayhew, and had concocted a scheme whereby Ferrell would pretend to purchase a large amount of cocaine from him. (T-673-74). According to Williams, the plan was to lure Mayhew to Sherwood Park, an isolated area without any witnesses. (T-675). According to Williams, Ferrell admitted that the three co-defendants robbed Mayhew of drugs and money, including taking a gold rope chain from around his neck, then Kenneth Hartley shot him four or five times in the head. (T-676). Williams testified that Ferrell indicated the gun that had been used "had a clip." (T-677). Williams also testified that Ferrell stated the three left drug paraphernalia on the front seat of Mayhew's vehicle. (T-678). No gold chain was ever recovered from appellant.

Williams admitted that he had four prior felony convictions, and a pending charge of dealing in stolen property. (T-682).

WILLIAMS RULE

On January 8, 1992, the state filed a notice of other crimes, wrongs, or acts evidence, alleging the following:

Ronnie Ferrell on or about the 20th day of April, 1991, in the County of Duval, in the State of Florida, did unlawfully by force, violence, assault, or putting in fear, take money or other property, to-wit: drugs or money, the property of Gino Mayhew, as owner or custodian, from the person or custody of Gino Mayhew, and in the course of committing said robbery, carried a firearm, to-wit: a pistol, contrary to the provisions of Section 812.13, Florida Statutes.

(R-43).

No written response or motion to exclude the similar fact evidence was filed by the defense and no pre-trial hearing was held as to the admissibility of such evidence; however, immediately prior to opening statement, defense counsel lodged an oral objection to the admission of the similar fact evidence. (T-426). Appellant's trial counsel agreed that the state attorney could present the facts to the court in summary form. (T-427). According to the state, the deceased Mayhew had been robbed by appellant and his two co-defendants on Saturday, April 20, 1991—two days before the homicide. (T-427). The state postulated that after the robbery, the three co-defendants began to believe that Mayhew was going to retaliate against them in some fashion for the robbery, and at that time began to formulate their plan to murder him. (T-427).

Trial counsel stipulated that the facts as outlined by the prosecutor were sufficient for the court to base a decision upon. (T-429). The following ruling and objections were stated on the record:

THE COURT: Based on the facts I just heard to which you were agree, I think it's admissible, <u>Williams</u> Rule evidence.

MR. NICHOLS: Well, I think arguably is, but I just need to voice my objection.

(T-429).

In support of its <u>Williams</u> Rule claim, the state presented the testimony of Lynwood Smith. Smith testified that he was nineteen years old, and lived at the Washington Heights Apartments in April of 1991. (T-535). Smith testified he knew Gino Mayhew and co-

defendant, Kenneth Hartley. (T-526-37). Smith testified that on April 20, 1991, between 9:00 o'clock and 11:00 o'clock p.m., he was at home in his bedroom at apartment 137 at the Washington Heights Apartments. (T-537-38).

Smith further testified that on that evening he had seen Gino Mayhew running into his [Smith's] bedroom, looking upset. (T-538). Smith testified that Mayhew looked as if he had just been beaten up and was acting upset, angry and excited. (T-538). Smith testified that he saw a bleeding gash on Mayhew's forehead. (T-538).

Over defense objection, Smith was permitted to testify as to an "excited utterance" made by Mayhew to the effect that he had just been robbed by two guys and one of them looked like "Kip." (T-556). According to Smith, Mayhew told him that the other man involved in the robbery had a hat pulled down over his face. (T-557). Smith testified that Mayhew was unable to recognize the second man, and that Mayhew told him the robbers got money and drugs from him. (T-557). Smith also testified Mayhew told him he had been shot in the knee with a pistol by one of the robbers. (T-557).

On cross-examination, Smith admitted he had known appellant Ferrell and Mayhew since childhood, and that the two of them had known each other for that amount of time. (T-559). Smith admitted that Mayhew did not report to him that one of the robbers looked like appellant Ferrell. (T-559).

The state also presented testimony of a Gene Felton who testified that he was at the poolroom near the Washington Heights

Apartment complex on the night of April 20, 1991, and that he saw the appellant and co-defendant Sylvester Johnson on that same evening. (T-562-66). According to Felton, appellant and Johnson were discussing a fight they had had with Mayhew. (T-566). Felton testified he heard appellant say that he had beat Gino Mayhew and had taken his drugs and money. (T-567).

Defense counsel moved to strike Felton's testimony, inasmuch as he could place no date on the subject of appellant's and codefendant Johnson's purported conversation. (T-569-70). The court denied the motion to strike. (T-571).

SENTENCING

On March 20, 1991, a penalty phase hearing was held. (T-967-1027). The state presented the testimony of Beverly Frazier, who testified that she had been a correctional officer in the Duval County Jail in 1988, when an altercation between inmates and officers had occurred. (T-972-82). Frazier testified that appellant was involved in a group of inmates who had made threats and demands to correctional officers and who refused to be subdued.

Frazier testified she had been slammed up against the wall and kicked and hit by the group of inmates. (T-981). This incident was the same incident from which the riot charge stemmed.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

GUILT PHASE

Appellant asserts that the trial court impermissibly allowed evidence of another crime to be admitted over defense objection. Appellant argues that the evidence of a purported robbery two days before the death of the victim was actually the feature of this trial, and was introduced solely to show appellant's propensity to commit crime.

Appellant also asserts that because there was insufficient evidence to convict him of first-degree murder and robbery that the trial court erred in denying his motions for judgment of acquittal.

Ferrell also objects to the trial court's spontaneous instruction to the jurors regarding the original Biblical origins of the Ten Commandments as a denial of his right to a fair trial.

PENALTY PHASE

Ferrell argues that there was insufficient evidence to prove the aggravators "cold, calculated and premeditated," "for pecuniary gain," and "heinous, atrocious and cruel" beyond a reasonable doubt, and that he therefore should be re-sentenced to life. Moreover, Ferrell asserts the trial court impermissibly doubled the factors "for pecuniary gain" and "during the course of kidnapping" because they were inextricably intertwined in the same criminal episode. Ferrell also argues the trial court's instructions as to "cold, calculated and premeditated were deficient and that the trial court erred in failing to require special verdicts.

ISSUE I:

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN INSTRUCTING THE JURY AS TO BIBLICAL ORIGINS OF THE COMMANDMENT "THOU SHALT NOT KILL"

During voir dire, Assistant State Attorney George Batch was questioning venirewoman Pollick regarding her personal views on the death penalty. (T-374). Venirewoman Pollick replied that she was recalling biblical sources to help her with her personal feelings on the death penalty. (T-374). At that time, the trial court interjected and stated the following:

THE COURT: Let me add one thing here, counsel, every time this comes up we have different opinions about it.

This is not the first time this has come up during the course of a jury selection in a capital case.

Inquiry has been made over the last twenty or thirty years that both Hebrew and Christian scholars, they tell us—these are students who have been studying it for long years—they tell us in the original Bible, in Greek, Hebrew, and Arabic, the Ten Commandments say "Thou shalt not commit murder." It doesn't say anything about "Thou shalt not kill? [sic] It says, "Thou shall not commit murder? [sic] It does not say, "Thou shalt not kill."

That translation of the Hebrew, Greek and Arabic Bible have [sic] translated it from "murder" to "Thou shalt not kill." But in the original Bible it is, "Thou shall not commit murder."

And also when you say--when attorneys ask you, Can you sit in judgment, you are not talking about sitting in judgment of a person morally or socially or any other thing, but just make a determination of guilt or innocence. That is what you are asked to do, not with judgment.

With that proceed, Mr. Betch [sic].

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