FILED

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SID J. WHITE SEP 25 1995

Chief Deputy Clerk

RONNIE FERRELL,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO: 83,076

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

CURTIS M. FRENCH ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 291692

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

There are 12 issues on appeal: (1) Ferrell has procedurally defaulted any objection to the trial court's Biblical comment during the voir dire examination. Although judicial comments relating to Biblical interpretation generally should be avoided, the comment at issue here was brief and nonprejudicial, and clearly does not amount to fundamental error. (2) Although Ferrell's trial attorney interposed an objection to evidence that Ferrell had participated in an armed robbery of Gino Mayhew two days before the latter's murder, no grounds were offered in support of the objection. Ferrell has not preserved for appeal the grounds he now raises. Anyway, evidence of the initial robbery was offered to proved motive and premeditation, not identity, and was properly admitted even if not "strikingly" (3) Statements made by Gino similar to the crime on trial. Mayhew immediately after he was robbed, beaten and shot at were properly admitted under the "excited utterance" exception to the hearsay rule. (4) The evidence supports the conviction for first degree murder. Eyewitness testimony established that Ferrell was involved in the abduction of Gino Mayhew, and the circumstances of the case, coupled with Ferrell's statements about the crime, establish that the murder was premeditated. In addition, the evidence was sufficient to prove first-degree felony murder. When Mayhew was abducted at gunpoint, he was in possession of money and drugs. After he was murdered, Mayhew had neither money This evidence, coupled with Ferrell's statements nor drugs. admitting that he had robbed Mayhew, sufficed to withstand

Ferrell's motion for judgment of acquittal. (6) Ferrell was properly sentenced as an habitual felony offender. However, his habitual offender sentences should have run concurrently rather than consecutively. (7) The evidence supports the trial court's determination that this preplanned robbery/kidnapping/murder was cold, calculated and premeditated beyond a reasonable doubt. The evidence supports the trial court's determination that this murder was committed for pecuniary gain. Even if pecuniary gain was not the only motive for the murder, it was an integral component of the crime. (9) The murder also was heinous, atrocious or cruel. Mayhew was abducted at gunpoint, forced to drive to an isolated location, and then killed. He was shot at least twice while still alive and conscious, before the fatal wounds were inflicted. The evidence establishes the requisite agony, foreknowledge of death, extreme anxiety and fear support the HAC finding. (10) Any issue of the sufficiency of the CCP instruction has not been preserved for review. Ferrell's trial attorney not only did not object to the charge, he agreed to it. (11) The kidnapping and pecuniary gain aggravators were not based on the same essential feature of Ferrell's crime, and it was proper to consider them separately. In any event, any relating to the findings of any of the aggravators complained about on appeal is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. Even if this Court accepts every argument made by Ferrell on appeal relating to the trial court's findings in aggravation, there would remain two strong aggravators (prior violent felony conviction and kidnapping) and minimal mitigation. (12) Ferrell was not entitled to special verdicts.

ISSUE I

NO ISSUE HAS BEEN PRESERVED FOR APPEAL CONCERNING THE TRIAL COURT'S COMMENTS ABOUT THE PROPER INTERPRETATION OF THE TEN COMMANDMENTS

The trial judge's comments at issue here are reproduced verbatim in Appellant's brief and need not be repeated here. It is notable that the subject of "biblical sources" (Appellant's brief at p. 15) was raised in the first instance by prospective juror Mrs. Pollock. Thus, the trial court's comments were not entirely unsolicited. Moreover, scholarly support exists for the court's comments. See, e.g., THE REVISED ENGLISH BIBLE, Oxford University Press, Cambridge University Press (1989), Exodus 20, 13 (whose translation of the commandment, ostensibly from original sources, is: "Do not commit murder.")

Nevertheless, assuming, arguendo, that the court's comments about the proper translation of one of the ten commandments were unnecessary and/or inappropriate, this issue is not preserved for Ferrell's trial attorney did not object to these comments (T 375-376). In fact, there was no response by either party to the comments at any time during the trial, and Mrs. Pollock was selected as a juror even though both parties had peremptory challenges remaining (T 401, 403). Clearly, Ferrell's trial attorney did not deem the trial court's remarks to be worth making issue about, nor to be prejudicial an qualifications of the juror to whom the comments were directed.

It is well settled that, except in cases of fundamental error, issues cannot be raised for the first time on appeal.

See, e.g., Finney v. State, 20 Fla. L. Weekly S401, 404 (Fla.

Jul. 20, 1995); Sochor v. State, 580 So.2d 595, 602-603 (Fla. 1991); Steinhorst v. State, 412 So.2d 332, 338 (Fla. 1982). objection requirement applied contemporaneous has been prosecutorial comment, Pangburn v. State, 20 Fla. L. Weekly S323, 324 (Fla. July 6, 1995), to judicial instructions, Kearse v. State, 20 Fla. L. Weekly S300, 301 (Fla. June 22, 1995), to the jury selection process, Larkins v. State, 655 So.2d 95, 98 (Fla. 1995) and -- most significantly here -- to allegations of improper comments by the trial court. Jackson v. State, 599 So.2d 103, 107-108 (Fla. 1992); Ross v. State, 386 So.2d 1191, 1195 (Fla. 1980).

Ferrell does not even contend that the trial court's comments in this case rise to the level of fundamental error. While it is doubtless true that trial judges generally should refrain from discussing religious philosophy during the voir examination of prospective jurors, the comment at issue here was brief, and essentially neutral on the question of whether a death sentence is Biblically appropriate. (The Court did not mention any of the ensuing passages in the Bible which mandate the death penalty for a wide variety of offenses, including reviling one's mother or father, having sexual intercourse with a beast, or being a witch.)

Mrs. Pollock favored the death penalty; she simply was not sure that she could vote to impose it herself. She stated: "I don't know if I could live with myself, even though I am in favor of the death penalty. I guess I am undecided because I will have to be truthful, and I don't know if I could or not." (T 374).

Following the comments by the trial court, Mrs. Pollock was asked by the prosecutor if she would be able to convict the defendant if proven guilty beyond a reasonable doubt of first degree murder, knowing that he could then be subjected to a death sentence. Mrs. Pollock answered: "I'll try. That is all I can say. I will try.... It is not an easy matter." (T 376).

Ferrell's trial attorney could reasonably have concluded that Mrs. Pollock might be favorable to the defense, particularly at the penalty phase. However, despite her initial misgivings about her ability to serve, the State did not challenge her for cause. Arguably, the trial court's comments were beneficial to the defense in this respect.

In any event, whether beneficial to the defense or not, nothing about the trial court's comment reaches down to the "very legality of the trial itself" or otherwise compels a finding of fundamental error. Smith v. State, 240 So.2d 807, 810 (Fla. 1970); Mungin v. State, 20 Fla. L. Weekly, S459 (Fla. Sept. 7, 1995). Cf. Bates v. Dugger, 604 So.2d 457, 458 (Fla. 1992) (any issue concerning opening of trial with prayer by victim's minister was not raised at trial or on direct appeal and therefore was procedurally barred when raised for the first time on collateral review; claim did not involve "fundamental error"). Ferrell has failed to preserve this issue for appeal, and it is procedurally barred.

ISSUE II

NO WILLIAMS RULE ISSUE HAS BEEN PRESERVED FOR REVIEW; MOREOVER, EVIDENCE THAT FERRELL WAS A PARTICIPANT IN A ROBBERY OF MAYHEW TWO DAYS PRIOR TO THE MURDER WAS NOT "SIMILAR FACT EVIDENCE" ADMITTED TO PROVE IDENTITY BY PROOF OF A DISTINCTIVE MODUS OPERANDI; IT WAS INSTEAD "RELEVANT" EVIDENCE INTEGRALLY CONNECTED TO THE MURDER AND PROPERLY ADMITTED TO PROVE FERRELL'S MOTIVE

As noted in Ferrell's brief, pursuant to §90.402 and 90.404(2) Florida Statutes (1991), the State filed a pretrial "Notice of Other Crimes, Wrongs or Acts Evidence" announcing the intention of the State to introduce evidence that Ferrell participated in a robbery of Gino Mayhew two days prior to the murder (R 43). Ferrell's trial attorney did not file any written response to the notice, but just before opening statements lodged this objection:

The other thing I had not filed [a] written motion about it and going through things yesterday it's apparent to me that Mr. Bateh intends to call witnesses concerning a robbery that took place some days prior -- robbery of the same victim that took place some days prior to his death. My understanding is the purpose of that is to provide some motive or opportunity or something like that.

And rather than doing it as each one of those witnesses come in I wanted to explain -- I wanted to object to any testimony concerning this prior criminal act and have the Court rule on it.

(T 426). The State responded:

There was no pre-trial motion, Mr. Nichols told me now he wanted to object. I filed some months ago a notice of intention to introduce William's Rule evidence but he indicated that I could summarize the facts. I frankly think Mr. Nichols is probably raising this merely to protect the record but I think I can summarize the facts to the Court....

...Williams Rule evidence can come in to show a number of matters, one of which is motive. And in

this particular case Gino Mayhew was murdered on Monday night, April 22nd, 1991, two days before, Saturday, April 20th, he was robbed, I have evidence to show he was robbed by this defendant and his codefendants. And it was after that -- that Saturday robbery on ... April the 20th that these defendants began to believe that Gino Mayhew were [sic] going to retaliate against them in some fashion for the earlier robbery. And it was at that time that they formulated their plan to murder Gino Mayhew and in fact carried that plan out. The State has a witness who received a statement from the defendant in which the defendant laid that all out for him and stated, yes, we participated in the robbery and we heard that Gino was going to retaliate against us and so we decided to kill him.

And with that evidentiary predicate it's the State's intention to introduce evidence of the robbery that happened two days before the murder to establish the motive for the killing and to establish the context that the killing occurred in.

(T 427-428) (emphasis supplied). Ferrell's response to this evidentiary predicate and the court's ruling were as follows:

MR. NICHOLS: Judge, here's my purpose, Mr. Bateh already filed some time ago notice of intent to use William's Rule evidence. I realized in final preparations for trial that I never did have a hearing on that and I never filed an objection to it.

It certainly is arguable that Florida case law on Williams Rule would allow this testimony to come in. I don't want it to come in without my having voiced an objection to it, I had not filed a written objection to it, I can do that in a few minutes.

THE COURT: All right. Let me ask you this, you stipulate that the facts -- you agree that the facts that Mr. Bateh has just outlined are sufficient for the Court to make a decision upon?

MR. NICHOLS: Yes.

And I bring it up now rather than just letting -- waiting until the evidence during the trial and allow it to go forward.

THE COURT: Based on the facts I just heard to which you agree, I think it's admissible, Williams Rule evidence.

MR. NICHOLS: Well, I think arguably [it] is but I just need to voice my objection.

(T 428-429) (emphasis supplied).

The State would first contend that Ferrell has not preserved for appeal any issue that the collateral crime was not sufficiently similar to the crime on trial, or that the collateral offense became a feature of the trial, or that its probative value was outweighed by undue prejudice. None of these grounds for objecting to the collateral-crime evidence was raised at trial. In fact, no grounds at all were raised at trial -- only a bare objection unsupported by any grounds of objection, coupled with what is very nearly a concession that the evidence was properly admitted under Florida case law.

"The specific legal ground upon which a claim is based must be presented to the trial court, in order to preserve an issue for appeal." Bertolotti v. State, 565 So.2d 1343, 1345 (Fla. Because the legal grounds upon which Ferrell's present Williams Rule claim is based were not raised below, they were not preserved for appeal. Kearse v. State, 20 Fla. L. Weekly S300, 301 (Fla. June 22, 1995) ("Kearse did not object to the special instruction on this ground and thus did not preserve this issue for appeal."); Peterka v. State, 640 So.2d 59, 70 1994) (grounds of objection raised on appeal preserved as defense counsel did not specifically object on those grounds below"); Steinhorst v. State, 412 So.2d 332, 338 (Fla. 1982) ("[I]n order for an argument to be cognizable on appeal, it must be the specific contention asserted as legal ground for the objection, exception, or motion below."); cf.

<u>Kujawa v. State</u>, 405 So.2d 251, 252 (3rd DCA 1981) (objection that "we feel it violates our client's constitutional rights" is not a statement of grounds for objection).

Moreover, even if preserved, the evidence was properly The cases cited by Ferrell for the proposition that admitted. the collateral crime must be "strikingly similar" or that the "points of similarity have some special character" or "unique characteristics" are cases in which the State offered similar fact evidence to prove identity by proving a distinctive modus "Similar fact evidence relevant to prove a material operandi. fact other than identity need not meet the rigid similarity requirement applied when collateral crimes are used to prove Gould v. State, 558 So.2d 481, 485 (Fla. 2d DCA identity." Lesser degrees of similarity might suffice in other 1990). situations. Calloway v. State, 520 So.2d 665, 668 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988). In fact, evidence of collateral crimes need necessarily be similar at all. Factually dissimilar crimes may Bryan v. State, 533 So.2d 744, 746 be admitted if relevant. (Fla. 1988). In this case, the collateral crime was offered to prove motive. This Court recently explained:

Although the similarity between the facts of the charged offense and the other crime may serve to enhance the probative value of other crime evidence, similarity is not always a prerequisite to consideration of such evidence. See Williams v. State, 621 So.2d 413, 414 (Fla. 1993); Bryan v. State, 533 So.2d 744, 746 (Fla. 1988), cert. denied, 490 U.S. 1028, 109 S.Ct. 1765, 104 L.Ed.2d 200 (1989). Overall similarity between the facts of the two offenses generally is necessary before the other crime evidence is considered relevant to the issue of identity. [Cits.] However, such is not the case when other crime evidence is used to prove motive.

Finney v. State, 20 Fla. L. Weekly S401, 403 (Fla. July 20, 1995). In this case, although there were similarities between the extrinsic offense and the crime on trial (same victim, same defendants, robbery at gunpoint in both case, drugs taken in both cases), the extrinsic crime here was not offered as "similar fact evidence but rather was integrally connected to murder.... [and] was relevant to show motive Layman v. State, 652 So.2d 373, 375 (Fla. premeditation." 1995). As in Padilla v. State, 618 So.2d 165, 169 (Fla. 1993), the collateral crime was "inseparable crime evidence" that was necessary to complete the story of the crime on trial, and was properly admitted. See also Craig v. State, 510 So.2d 857, 863 (Fla. 1987) (evidence that defendant had been stealing cattle from his employer admissible to show defendant's motive in killing ranch owner and another who had discovered theft); State v. Richardson, 621 So.2d 752, 757 (Fla. 5th DCA 1993) (evidence of prior factually dissimilar murder admissible to prove defendant's motive to commit subsequent murder).

Although Ferrell raised no issue at trial concerning the quantum of proof establishing the extrinsic offense, there is no merit to Ferrell's claim that the State's evidence was insufficient to demonstrate that he was a party to the Saturday robbery. The evening of the same day the robbery occurred, Gene Felton overheard Ferrell bragging about it (T 565-567), and Ferrell also later confessed to Robert Williams that he had robbed Mayhew the Saturday before Mayhew was murdered (T 668-669). The evidence clearly was sufficient to support a jury

finding that Ferrell was a participant in the extrinsic offense.

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